
BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS

LICENSING COMMITTEE

Meeting: Thursday, 7th November, 2019
   at 2.00 pm (Drawing Room)

A G E N D A
PART ONE

PART ONE 

1. Urgent Items

To note any items which the Chairman considers to be of an urgent 
nature. 

2. Delegations

To receive notice from Members who may wish to move any 
delegated matter non-delegated and which will be decided by a 
majority of Members present and voting at the meeting.

3. Admission of Public and Press

To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the agenda.

4. Declarations of Interest

To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal 
offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the 
Register or at the meeting).

Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register,  as well as any other registrable or other interests.  

5. Apologies/Attendance of Substitutes



Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members.

6. Confirmation of Minutes

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 4th October, 2018.

3 - 6

FOR DECISION 

(R) 7.  Elected Members Code of Conduct - Licensing Matters 
 

7 - 48

NOTE (D) – Delegated
(R) – For Referral to Council

Membership of Committee

Councillors Assouad
Barlow
Biggins
Callister (Chairman)
Gawne
Hall
Maddox
R. McClure
McEwan
Mcleavy
Seward (Vice-Chair)
Wall

For queries regarding this agenda, please contact:
Sharron Rushton
Democratic Services Officer
01229 876321
srushton@barrowbc.gov.uk

Published: Wednesday, 30th October 2019



BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS

LICENSING COMMITTEE

Meeting: Thursday 4th October, 2018
at 2.00 p.m. (Drawing Room)

PRESENT:- Callister (Chairman), Seward (Vice-Chairman), Biggins, Cassells, L. 
Roberts and Wall.

Officers Present:- Graham Barker (Public Protection Manager), Katherine Benson 
(Licensing Officer), Jane Holden (Principal Legal Officer), Sharron Rushton 
(Democratic Services Officer) and Katie Pepper (Democratic and Electoral Services 
Apprentice).

Legal Representative:- Paul O’Donnell (Local Authority Retained Solicitor)

4 – Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Barlow, W. McClure and 
Proffitt.

5 – Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 17th May, 2018 were taken as read and 
confirmed.

6 – Gambling Act 2005 - Statutory Policy Review

The Licensing Officer reported that Section 349(1) of the Gambling Act 2005 (“the 
Act”) required that the Council, as statutory Licensing Authority, prepared, consulted 
and published a statement of the principles that they proposed to apply in exercising 
their functions under the Act during the three-year period to which the policy applied.

The Statement must be produced following consultation with those bodies and 
persons set out in Section 349 (3) of the Act.  Regulations made by the Secretary of 
State prescribed the form of the Statements and the procedure to be followed in 
relation to them and their publications.

The report informed Members of arrangements for carrying out a review of the 
Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005.

The Licensing Objectives

The Act created the three licensing objectives which formed the foundation of the 
regime.  The Statement of Policy must state and promote these objectives:-

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime,

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.

The statement should also state that the Licensing Authority shall aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling as set out in Section 153 of the Act. 

When making deliberations Licensing Committee Members must have regard to this 
Statement of Licensing Policy together with the statutory guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission.

The Gambling Act 2005 covered all premises that allowed commercial gambling, 
which included:-

 Bookmakers;
 Horse tracks;
 Dog tracks;
 Casinos;
 Amusement arcades; and
 Pubs and bars that had gaming machines

The Statement

The report was presented to explain proposed arrangements for carrying out a 
review of the Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy in accordance with Section 
349(2) of the 2005 Act. The new Policy would provide a licensing framework for 
stakeholders within the Barrow Borough Council area for a period of 3 years.   

The Cumbrian Licensing Managers Working Group of which Barrow Borough 
Council was a member, had developed a template for the policy to promote 
consistency between the 6 local authorities.  

This policy revision would reference the Commission’s latest guidance to Licensing 
Authorities (5th edition, September 2015). This guidance included a social 
responsibility code and advice on Licensing Authorities completing their own local 
area profiles, an assessment of the local environment as a means of mapping out 
local areas of concern, which could be reviewed and updated to reflect changes to 
the local landscape. Completion of a local area profile was not a requirement on 
Licensing Authorities but there were significant benefits for both the Licensing 
Authority and operators, in having a better awareness of the local area and risks. 

The Council’s policy included a local area profile which had been amended to reflect 
the position and contained updated Responsible Authorities contacts.

Consultation

In preparing a statement or revision the Licensing Authority must consult:-

a) the Chief Officer of Police for the authority's area, or
b) one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority's area, and

Page 4

Agenda Item 6



c) one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority's 
functions under this Act.

The National consultation, co-ordinated by the Cumbrian Licensing Managers 
Working Group, ran for 3 months between February and May 2018. The policy was 
available on the Council’s website as part of the local public consultation which ran 
from 18th September, 2018 to 18th November, 2018. A full list of consultees was 
attached as an appendix to the report.

Members would be kept informed of developments regarding the consultation of the 
review of the Statement of Gambling Policy over the coming months.  

Any revisions made to the existing policy must be published in a revised policy no 
later than 3rd January, 2019. It would be necessary for any proposed changes to the 
existing policy to be approved by full Council. As Council does not meet until 22nd 
January, 2019 it would be necessary to hold a special meeting in December 2018 to 
consider any policy revisions.

RESOLVED:- To agree to note the following information:-

(1) The revised Statement of Gambling Policy was subject to consultation with 
those persons listed in Section 349(3) of the Gambling Act 2005. Consultation 
commenced nationally in February 2018 and was underway locally until 18th 
November, 2018; and

(2) The results of the consultation would be reported to Executive Committee on 
28th November 2018 for consideration before being forwarded to Full Council, 
with any proposals, for adoption.

The meeting closed at 2.05 p.m.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



  Part I

LICENSING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 7th November 2019

Reporting Officer: Public Protection Manager     

(R)

Title: Elected Members Code of Conduct – Licensing 
Matters

Summary and Conclusions: 

This Code of Conduct sets out principles to guide Members and officers in 
determining licensing applications and making other decisions within the 
terms of reference of the Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and 
the Licensing Regulatory Committees (“the Licensing Committees”). 

The Licensing Code of Conduct provides guidance to Members on private 
interests,  ‘pre-judgement’, political group meetings, debate & lobbying, 
natural justice, hospitality and the Council’s statutory duties.

Recommendations: 

That Members consider and  recommend the Licensing Code to the Executive 
Committee to approve and recommend the Council adopt this code into Part 5 
of the Constitution.

Report

Attached at APPENDIX 1 is a proposed Licensing Code of Conduct which 
sets out principles to guide Members and Officers in determining licensing 
applications and making other decisions within the terms of reference of the 
Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and the Licensing Regulatory 
Committees (“the Licensing Committees”).

The Licensing Committees have a very important role to play in the life of the 
Borough; they determine licensing applications under many different statutory 
regimes – from alcohol & gambling licences to taxi licences & street trading 
consents and many others. The Committee’s decisions are very important to 
the applicants since they can affect their ability to earn their living and can 
have serious financial consequences. However, the role of licensing is the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



protection of the public and is also important for the safeguarding vulnerable 
adults and children, its impact on health & safety and public safety, the local 
and wider community and competing economic interests.

Members of the Licensing Committees should determine licensing matters in 
the interests of the whole community of the Borough, with regard to the 
relevant legislation, policy and guidance and should not prejudge licensing 
applications nor do anything that may reasonably be taken as giving an 
indication of having prejudged licensing applications.

Members must consider carefully whether it is right for them to participate in a 
matter before the Committee and be able to approach it with an open mind 
and consider an application on its own merits. In order to maintain the integrity 
of the licensing system, Members should be careful to ensure that any 
interests do not unduly influence their decisions.

In addition, the Licensing Code of Conduct provides guidance to Members on 
‘pre-judgement’, political group meetings, debate & lobbying, natural justice, 
hospitality and the Council’s statutory duties. 

Considerations

(i) Legal Implications

The establishment of a code on licensing matters is good practice and helps 
minimise the risk of legal challenge in the decision making process.

(ii) Risk Assessment

The recommendation has no implications.

(iii) Financial Implications

The recommendation has no financial implications.

(iv) Health and Safety Implications

The recommendation has no implications.

(v) Equality and Diversity

The recommendation has no detrimental impact on service users showing any 
of the protected characteristics under current Equalities legislation.

(vi) Health and Well-being Implications

The recommendation has no adverse effect on the Health and Wellbeing of 
users of this service.

Page 8

Agenda Item 7



Background Papers

Nil

Report Author

Graham Barker, Public Protection Manager.

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 1 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

BARROW-IN-FURNESS  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

Licensing Code of Conduct for Elected Members – 
Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and 

Licensing Regulatory Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notes:- 

This constitutes a local Code of Conduct, breach of which will constitute a breach of the Code 
of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority (Part 5(1) of the Constitution) 

 
It also has to be read in conjunction with: 
 

Protocol on Member/Officer Relations (Part 5(3) of the Constitution) 
  

This Code of Conduct was approved by Barrow Borough Council on XXXXXXXX. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 2 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

Licensing Code of Conduct for Elected Members –  
Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and the 
Licensing Regulatory Committees 

 
This Licensing Code of Conduct sets out principles to guide Members and Officers in determining 
licensing applications and making other decisions within the terms of reference of the Licensing 
Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and the Licensing Regulatory Committees (“the Licensing 
Committees”). 
 
Although it is of particular relevance to Members of the Licensing Committees, it applies to all 
Members of the Council who may become involved in licensing matters. It will be distributed 
annually to all Members of the Council. 
 
Officers participating in the Licensing Committees’ process must comply with the Officers Code of 
Conduct (Part 5(2) of the Constitution). 
 
This Code of Conduct relates mainly to the Council’s licensing functions. 

 
Contents 
 
1. INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................. 3 

2. INTERESTS OF THE WHOLE COMMUNITY ................................................................... 3 

3. PARTICIPATION OF MEMBERS ...................................................................................... 4 

4. POLITICAL GROUP MEETINGS ...................................................................................... 5 

5. DEBATE............................................................................................................................ 6 

6. ATTENDANCE OF THE PUBLIC ...................................................................................... 6 

7. GENERAL PROCEDURES FOR HEARINGS ................................................................... 6 

8. NATURAL JUSTICE ......................................................................................................... 6 

9. LOBBYING OF AND BY MEMBERS ................................................................................. 8 

10. HOSPITALITY ................................................................................................................. 10 

11. MEETINGS WITH INTERESTED PARTIES .................................................................... 11 

12. STATUTORY DUTIES .................................................................................................... 12 

13. PRESS COMMENTS ...................................................................................................... 13 

14. SCRUTINY ...................................................................................................................... 13 

15. CODE OF CONDUCTS ................................................................................................... 14 

16. BREACHES .................................................................................................................... 14 

Page 12

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 3 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. The Licensing Committees have a very important role to play in the life of the Borough; they 

determine licensing applications under many different statutory regimes – from alcohol & 

gambling licences to taxi licences & street trading consents and many others. Your decisions are 

very important to the applicants since they can affect their ability to earn their living and can have 

serious financial consequences. However, the role of licensing is the protection of the public and 

is also important for the safeguarding vulnerable adults and children, its impact on health & safety 

and public safety, the local and wider community and competing economic interests. 

 

1.2. More specifically, applications and matters undertaken when discharging the Council’s functions 

under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 have their own objectives to be upheld. 

The Licensing Act 2003 regulates ‘licensable activities’ which are defined in the Act as the sale of 

alcohol, supply of alcohol by a club, regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. The 

Gambling Act 2005 regulates the licensing of gambling premises and certain permissions. 

 

1.3. This Licensing Code of Conduct contains guidance for Members of the Licensing Committees. If 

Members are uncertain about the application of the Code, they should seek guidance from 

officers, preferably in advance of any meeting.  

 

 

2. INTERESTS OF THE WHOLE COMMUNITY 
 

2.1. Members of the Licensing Committees should determine licensing matters in the interests of the 

whole community of the Borough. 

 

2.2. All applications should be determined with regard to the relevant legislation, policy and guidance. 

 

2.3. Members of the Licensing Committees should not prejudge licensing applications nor do anything 

that may reasonably be taken as giving an indication of having prejudged licensing applications. 

 

2.4. All other Members should have regard to these principles when dealing with licensing matters 

and must avoid giving an impression that the Council may have prejudged the matter. 



 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 4 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

3. PARTICIPATION OF MEMBERS 
 

3.1. Members must consider carefully whether it is right for them to participate in a matter before the 

Committee. There are two elements to this: 

 

(a) where they have private interests, both Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and any other 

Registrable Interests; and 

 

(b) where Members of the public may feel that the Member will not be able to approach 

matters with an open mind and consider the application on its own merits. 

 

3.2. While this Code of Conduct seeks to guide Members each situation will be different and Members 

should seek guidance from Officers. 

 

3.3. Members must comply with the Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council Code of Conduct, as set out 

in the Council’s Constitution and the provisions set out in the Code of Conduct for Members and 

Co-opted Members of the Authority (Part 5(1) of the Constitution). 

 

3.4. Pre-judgment 

 

Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 provides that: 

 

“A decision maker is not to be taken to have had, or to have appeared to have had, a closed 

mind when making the decision because: 

 

a) the decision-maker had previously done anything that directly or individually indicated what 

view the decision maker took, or would or might take, in relation to a matter, and; 

 

b) the matter was relevant to the decision”. 

 

3.5. The key point is that by the time the Member considers the application they must have an open 

mind and appear to have an open mind when determining the application. 

 

3.6. While this Code of Conduct for Members provides guidance as to private interests, both 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and any other Registrable Interests which may affect a Member’s 

ability to take part in the decision-making process, Members may have other interests which may 

influence their decision which will not amount to private interests, both Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interests and any other Registrable Interests for the purposes of the Code. In order to maintain 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 5 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

the integrity of the licensing system, Members should be careful to ensure that such interests do 

not unduly influence their decisions. Examples of such interests are:- 

 

 from ward concerns 

 from Membership of other Committees of the Council 

 from Membership of other public or community bodies 

 from Membership of voluntary associations and trusts (including where appointed by the 

Council) 

 from a connection with a particular policy initiative of the Council. 

 from Membership of clubs, societies and groups 

 from hobbies and other leisure interests 

 from employment or professional concerns 

 

3.7. Such interests may mean that a Member is involved with a licensing application before the matter 

comes before the Licensing Committees. Such involvement need not on its own debar a Member 

from participating in making the licensing decision when the matter is considered by the 

Licensing Committees providing that the Member has not already decided how they will vote on 

the matter before the Committee. Members should, however, always consider carefully whether 

in any particular case they can reasonably be seen to approach the application on its own merits 

and with an open mind. If the Member considers that this is not possible, the Member should 

withdraw from consideration of that item. 

 

3.8. As a minimum, the integrity of the licensing system requires openness on the part of Members; it 

must operate fairly and be seen to operate fairly. 

 

 

4. POLITICAL GROUP MEETINGS 
 

 

4.1. Members of the Licensing Committees must not base their decision on any discussion that may 

have taken place in a political group meeting. To do so would mean that Members have not come 

to the Committee meeting with an open mind, and that they may have been influenced by group 

discipline rather than the merits of the case. Where such meetings are held a note of the 

discussion should be made and be passed to the Democratic Services Manager. The 

Ombudsman has found maladministration in cases where Members have been influenced by 

political group decisions in deciding planning applications, and the same principles apply to 

licence applications. 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 6 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

5. DEBATE 
 

5.1. Only Members of the Licensing Committees can take part in the decision making. 

Members of the Licensing Committees must:- 

 
(a) listen to all arguments for and against an application and weigh them up carefully before 

deciding whether to support or oppose a particular application. 

 

(b) make sure that they are not swayed by arguments which are not directly related to the merits 

of the application. 

 

 

6. ATTENDANCE OF THE PUBLIC 
 

6.1. In most cases the Monitoring Officer will determine whether a particular matter should be heard in 

Part II (private). However, the Committees can decide whether to deal with matters in public or 

private, having regard to the Access to Information Procedure Rules (Part 4 of the Constitution) 

and the Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

 

7. GENERAL PROCEDURES FOR HEARINGS 
 

7.1. The following procedural requirements shall be followed at all times; 

 

 Any requests for additional hearings, to those set at Council, shall be made to the Monitoring 

Officer. 

 

 A solicitor, counsel, professional adviser, friend or relative may represent a person who is 

allowed to attend and make representations. 

 

7.2. There are specific guides to the process and order of procedure for the Licensing Regulatory 

Committee and the Licensing Sub-Committee; attached at Appendix 1 and 2, for which there are 

also statutory procedural regulations; The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 (SI 

2005 No 44) and The Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of Licensing Committees and Sub-

Committees) (Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2007 (SI 2007 No 173).  

 

8. NATURAL JUSTICE 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 7 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

8.1. There are two elements to natural justice: 

 

(a) Fairness 

 

(i) When the Licensing Sub-Committee or Licensing Regulatory Committee are considering an 

application, the applicant will be given an opportunity to put his / her case before the 

committee. If the applicant or his/her representative does not attend, the Sub-Committee or 

Regulatory Committee, may in its discretion proceed in the applicant's absence taking into 

account all the circumstances. 

 

(ii) Any person who has duly objected or made a representation, may be allowed a hearing at 

the Chair's discretion. 

 

(iii) When the Licensing Committee or Licensing Regulatory Committee is considering a matter 

of policy or other general licensing matters, any persons who wish to make representations 

may be allowed to do so at the Chair's discretion. If the Chair consents, any such 

representations would be time limited to three minutes for individuals and five minutes for 

an organisation / association within a maximum 30 minute time slot.  

 

(iv) People wishing to make a representation under paragraph 8.1.(a)(iii) above, should make a 

request to do so, in writing to the Public Protection Manager, at least 2 working days before 

the Committee meeting.  

 

(v) After making their representation to the Committee they will not be questioned by nor may 

they ask questions of  Members or Officers.   

 

(vi) If a number of people wish to make similar representations, a spokesperson should be 

appointed and that individual be given five minutes time to present their representation.  

 

(vii) Where possible, all documentation to be considered by the Licensing Committees will be 

made available in advance in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules 

(Part 4 of the Constitution). 

 

(viii) All Members of the Licensing Committees shall be present throughout the consideration of 

a particular application or matter. Where a Member arrives late or leaves the room once 

consideration of the matter has started, that Member shall play no part in the decision-

making process for the particular application. Where an application is adjourned it shall be 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 8 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

heard by the same Members only, and no others. 

 

(b) Prevention of Bias 

 

(i) The rules about personal and non-participatory interests set out in the Members’ Code of 

Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority (Part 5(1) of the 

Constitution) shall be firmly applied. Members are also referred to the guidance about 

prejudgement in section 3 of this Code. 

 

(ii) If the Licensing Committees move into private session to consider its decision, it should be 

accompanied only by Democratic Services Officers, Principal Legal Officer and Solicitor, all 

of whom shall have taken no substantive part in the debate, and shall play no substantive 

part in the decision-making process. 

 

8.2. There may be specific statutory rules and procedures that the Committee must follow in the 

case of particular applications. 

 

9. LOBBYING OF AND BY MEMBERS 
 

9.1. While recognising that lobbying of Members has an important role in the local democratic 

process, this should not prejudice the licensing process. Those who may be affected by the 

Committees decision will often seek to influence the decision by an approach to their local  

Member  or  Members  of  the Licensing  Committees.  However,  reacting  to lobbying can lead 

to the impartiality of a Member being called into question and require that Member to declare an 

interest. 

 

9.2. Lobbying of the Licensing Committees’ Members: 

 

(i) A Member of The Licensing Committees who is lobbied before the meeting:- 

 

 May listen to what is being said 

 May give procedural advice e.g. the right to make representations 

 May refer the lobbyist to a colleague who does not sit on the Committee. 

 Should refer the lobbyist to the relevant Licensing Enforcement Officer so that their views can 

be recorded and included in the report to the meeting. 

 Should not give details of voting intentions or otherwise enter into a commitment to oppose or 

support the application. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 9 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

 Should report all instances of significant, substantial or persistent lobbying to the Democratic 

Service Manager. 

 

There is no problem about listening to a point of view. If Members of the Licensing Committees 

express an opinion, without hearing the alternative view, it may create the impression that 

Members have pre-judged the matter and will not approach the matter with an open mind on its 

merits at the Committee. 

 

(ii) If the question arises of writing letters of objection (or support) to the Public Protection 

Manager, it would be more appropriate for these to come from Ward colleagues who are not 

Members of the Licensing Committees. 

 

(iii) Members of the Licensing Committees should avoid entering any premises or site in 

connection with an application unless part of an organised site visit. However, Members may 

sometimes be asked by constituents to visit them in their homes, and on those visits the 

question of a licence application (or objection or support) may be raised. In such 

circumstances, Members should not give any commitment. 

 

9.3. Lobbying of other Members 

 

While recognising that lobbying of Members has an important role in the local democratic 

process, all other Members should ensure that their response is not such as to give reasonable 

grounds for suggesting that the decision has already been made by the Council. 

 

9.4. Lobbying by the Licensing Committees Members: 

 

(i) Members of the Licensing Committees should not directly or indirectly organise support or 

opposition, lobby other Members, act as an advocate, or put pressure on Officers for a 

particular recommendation or give instructions to Officers about any application. Members are 

also reminded of their obligation under Paragraph 5 of the Members’ Code of Conduct 

for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority (Part 5(1) of the Constitution). 

  

(ii) If Members of The Licensing Committees engage in such conduct, it will be apparent that they 

have prejudged the application and are incapable of dealing with the matter with an open 

mind. If Members find themselves in such a situation, they should withdraw from the 

Committee for that item. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 10 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

 

9.5. Lobbying by other Members: 

 

(i) All other Members should generally follow the principle set out in section 9.4 and do nothing to 

affect the integrity of the licensing system; in particular, they should not put pressure on 

Officers for a particular recommendation or give instructions to Officers about any application. 

Members are also reminded of their obligation under Paragraph 5 of the Members’ Code of 

Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority (Part 5(1) of the Constitution). 

 

(ii) Members should consider carefully what effect on the integrity of the licensing process any 

action they take may have (such as the circulation of correspondence to Members). If 

Members receive correspondence about an application, from an applicant or any other 

person(s), they should contact  the Public Protection Manager and the Monitoring Officer as 

soon as possible providing copies of any such correspondence, rather than directly to 

Members of the Licensing Committees.  This ensures that any action deemed appropriate can 

be taken and the information appears on the appropriate file. 

 

(iii) Ward Members have a number of important roles in licensing matters :- 

 informative - making sure that their constituents are aware of licensing matters in the Ward 

 representative - making sure that the views of their constituents are brought to the attention of 

the Council 

 advocacy - speaking for those who feel unable to speak on their own behalf. 

Care must be taken to ensure that a Member’s actions are not misunderstood. A number of steps 

can prevent this:- 

 information that is distributed should be factually correct 

 where there are competing interests, all views should be represented 

 an impression should not be created that the Member is conducting a campaign in support or 

opposition to an application 

 other Members should not be lobbied. 

 

 

10. HOSPITALITY 
 
 

10.1. Members should not accept gifts or hospitality from applicants or objectors in connection with 

their Membership of the Licensing Committees as this might reasonably be interpreted as likely to 

influence a Member’s judgement. In addition, all Members must comply with of the Code of 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 11 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority (Part 5(1) of the Constitution). 

 

 

11. MEETINGS WITH INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
 

11.1. The main role of the Licensing Committees is to decide individual applications which is a quasi-

judicial function. The Licensing & Regulatory Committees also have a role in deciding a policy 

framework. 

 

11.2. The Committee will often find it useful to meet interested parties including members of the trade, 

resident groups, and the like and to visit premises in the Borough. While it is proper for the 

Committee to do this, care must be taken not to prejudice the integrity of the licensing process. 

The following ground rules will help to prevent this - 

 

11.3. Arrangements for meetings and visits should be approved by the Monitoring Officer and arranged 

by Officers. Members should not make their own arrangements. If Members are approached 

direct, they should pass the person concerned on to Officers.

 

11.4. Members should not accept any gift or any hospitality other than light refreshments during such 

meetings or visits. Any such offer must be registered whether or not it is accepted (see Section 

10 above). If it is necessary to provide more substantial hospitality, it should be provided for 

Members by the Council.

 

11.5. There should be no discussion of individual applications - including those that have been 

determined, those that are pending and those that potentially could arise in the future. At such 

meetings, there should be no one-to-one discussions between Members and others.

 

11.6. Officers should always be present at such meetings or visits. A note should be kept of who 

attended the meetings or visits, what occurred and an outline of any discussions. A copy should 

be placed on the relevant file and open to public inspection.

 

11.7. When dealing with applications, in the interest of openness and fairness, careful consideration 

should always be given to whether details of such meetings or visits should be given to the 

parties to the application and/or declared at the meeting. This should be done if a reasonable 

person might think that the Committee's decision could be affected by the meeting or visit.

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 12 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

12. STATUTORY DUTIES 
 

12.1. The Council is subject to a number of statutory duties which it must comply with when carrying 

out its statutory functions. These will apply to the licensing function except when such matters are 

clearly immaterial in the light of the particular statutory regime. Examples of these duties include: 

 

EQUALITY ACT 2010 – Section 149 provides that: 

 

A council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:  

(1) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct which is prohibited 

by or under the Equality Act 2010;  

(2) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(3) foster good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and persons who 

do not share it. 

 

The above powers relate to the following protected characteristics: 

(a) age 

(b) disability 

(c) gender reassignment 

(d) marriage and civil partnership 

(e) pregnancy and maternity 

(f) race (including colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins) 

(g) religion or belief 

(h) sex 

(i) sexual orientation 

 

HUMAN RIGHTS - Section 6(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998 provides that: 

 

"It is unlawful for a public authority to act [or fail to act] in a way which is incompatible with a 

Convention right". 

 

BEST VALUE - Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 provides that: 

 

"A best value authority must make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in 

which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness" 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER - Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides that: 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 13 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

 

"Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall be the duty of a local authority to 

exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions 

on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area" 

 

13. PRESS COMMENTS 

 
13.1. All Members should ensure that any contact which they may have with the press should accord 

with the principles of this Code and should not affect the integrity of the licensing system. 

 

13.2. Members should also comply with paragraph 11 in the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations 

(Part 5(3) of the Constitution) and are encouraged to seek advice from the Head of Paid Service 

or her Directors. 

 

13.3. The principles of the code apply to press contact; in particular:- 

 

i) Members of the Licensing Committees should ensure that they do not create the impression 

that they have prejudged the licensing application. 

 

ii) All other Members should ensure that they do not create the impression that the Council 

has already pre-judged the licensing application. 

 

 

14. SCRUTINY 
 

14.1. The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is explained in the Committee Procedure Rules 

(Part 4 of the Constitution). 

 

14.2. The "call-in" procedure allows the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to ask executive decision- 

makers to reconsider decisions before they are implemented. Under the Local Government Act 

2000, this does not apply to non-executive decisions such as those made by the Licensing 

Committees. 

 

14.3. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may review and scrutinise the overall work of the 

Licensing Committees, if it forms part of their agreed work programme. However, statutory 

guidance from the Secretary of State provides that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee should 

not normally scrutinise individual decisions made by the Licensing Committees. In particular, they 

should not become an alternative to normal appeals procedures. The power to review and 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

Code of Conduct – Licensing Matters:          Page 14 

Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Licensing Regulatory Committee.    
   

scrutinise should normally be used as part of wider policy reviews. 

 

 

15. CODE OF CONDUCTS 
 

15.1. The Licensing Committees will from time to time be free to devise its own Code of Conducts for 

dealing with different types of appeals, a copy of which will be held by, and available for 

inspection from, the Democratic Services Manager. 

 

 

16. BREACHES 
 

16.1. A breach of this Licensing Code of Conduct will constitute a breach of the Members’ Code of 

Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority. Complaints about any breach of 

this Code of Conduct by a Member may be referred to the Monitoring Officer.  

  
  

Page 24

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

 
 
 

Guide to  
Licensing Regulatory Committee 

Hearings Procedure 
 

 
 
 
 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Guide to Licensing Regulatory Hearings Procedure  

Version: Author: Review Date: 

V2.4.23012015 Corporate Support Officer 2016 

V3.0 05072016 Acting Principal Legal Officer 2016 

V4.0.01052019 
Public Protection Manager (updated with job 
title change to Public Protection Manager) 

2020 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

 

 
CONTENT PAGE 

1 Introduction 3 

2 The Role of the Committee 3 

3 The Role of Legal Advisor(s) 4 

4 The Role of Licensing Officer/Manager 5 

5 The Role of the Democratic Services Officer 5 

6 Other Council Officers 5 

7 Timescales for holding a hearing 5 

8 Notice to be given of a hearing 5 

9 Attendance/Non-Attendance 5 

10 Withdrawal of Representation 6 

11 Outcome of the hearing 6 

12 Procedure at the hearing 6 

13 Access by the Public and Press 8 

 Appendix A 9 

 Appendix B 10 

 

  

Page 26

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 3 
 

 

1. Introduction 

The purpose of this guidance is to explain the procedures for conducting licensing 

hearings in the consideration of miscellaneous licensing applications, including but 

not limited to private hire and hackney carriage licences, received by the Council, the 

work and responsibilities of the Licensing Regulatory Committee and a description of 

the roles of the committee and officers is also provided. 

Appearing before a committee of councillors can be a daunting prospect for some 

people.  The intention of this guidance is to provide a clear and concise explanation 

of what can be expected. 

The guidance is generally aimed at:- 

 

 Licence holders and applicants or their representatives 

 Legal Practitioners 

 Consultees (e.g. Police, Fire Authority etc) 

 Other Interested Persons 

 

2. The Role of the Committee 

The Licensing Regulatory Committee has full delegated authority to deal with private 

hire, hackney carriage and other licensing and registration functions (other than 

Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 functions designated to be the 

responsibility of the Licensing Committee by virtue of the implementation of relevant 

legislation).  This includes all powers (including enforcement) in respect of any 

approval, consent, licence, permission or registration for which the Committee is 

responsible. 

 

Where there are no relevant representations for the grant or renewal of any licence, 

registration, permission or consent for which the Licensing Regulatory Committee is 

responsible these matters will normally be dealt with by the Public Protection 

Manager. 

 

Full details of the Licensing Regulatory Committee and Public Protection Manager’s 

delegations can be found in the Constitution of the Council Part 3(1) and 3(2) 

respectively. 

 

 

3. The Role of Legal Advisor(s) 

The Legal Advisor(s) is not a party to the hearing.  Their role is to provide the 

Committee with any advice it requires to properly perform its functions, whether or 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 4 
 

not the Members have requested that advice on:- 

 

 questions of law (including human rights); 

 questions of mixed fact and law; 

 matters of practice and procedure; 

 the range of options available to the Committee; 

 any relevant decision of higher courts; 

 relevant national guidance or policy; 

 other issues relevant to the matter before the Committee; 

 the appropriate decision-making structure to be applied to any given case. 

 

To provide independent advice or clarification on any procedural, technical or legal 

matter at any time during the hearing.  

 

The Legal Advisor(s) may ask questions of applicant, licence holder, witnesses and 

the parties in order to clarify the evidence and any issues. 

 

When the Committee withdraws to make its determination / decision, the Legal 

Advisor(s) will join the Committee in order to give advice.  The substance of advice 

given will be repeated when the Committee returns to the hearing, so that all parties 

have an opportunity to comment upon it. The Legal Advisor(s) will then confirm or 

amend the advice. 

 

The Legal Advisor(s) will take no part in making findings of fact/the decision making 

process but may assist the Committee by reminding it of relevant evidence given 

during the hearing, taken from his own notes or the Committee Administrator’s notes, 

and formulating reasons and recording those reasons. 

 

The Legal Advisor(s) may assist unrepresented parties to present their case, but will 

not become an advocate for the party concerned. 

 

 

4. The Role of Licensing Officers / Manager 

To outline the application / issue to be considered, any relevant representations and 

refer to the Council’s Licensing Policy/Guidelines and statutory guidance. 

In a case where the Council has made relevant representations, that representation 

will be prepared and presented by an officer other than the reporting Licensing 

Officer / Manager. 

 

 

5. The Role of Democratic Services Officer 

To summarise and record decision on individual matters and to provide help and 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 5 
 

assistance to members of the public attending such meetings. 

 

 

6. Other Council Officers  

Other Council Officers may be in attendance at the hearing. Where their attendance 

is for a specific role the officer(s) will be introduced to the Committee along with 

details of their role. 

 

 

7. Timescales for holding a hearing 

The Council will arrange for hearings to be held as soon as reasonably practicable 

after the period for making representations has expired. 

 

 

8. Notice to be given of a hearing 

The Council will send Notice of Hearing (Appendix A) as soon as reasonably 

practicable and no less than 5 clear working days before the date of the hearing.   

The Agenda and hearing papers are published on the Council’s website no less than 

5 clear working days before the date of the hearing. If matters are to be considered 

in Part 2 of the hearing, only the agenda item will be published. 

 

 

9. Attendance/Non-Attendance 

All parties may attend the hearing. 

   

Applicants / licence holders may be accompanied by their legal representative or any 

other person who may be in attendance to speak on the applicants behalf.   A Notice 

of Attendance (Appendix B) should be completed and returned to the Public 

Protection Manager no later than 2 working days before the date of the hearing. 

 

Where an applicant does not attend the hearing and is not represented, the authority 

may continue with the hearing and consider any written material submitted by the 

party, or adjourn the hearing if it is in the public interest to do so. 

 

 

10. Withdrawal of representation 

Any party who wishes to withdraw any representations they have made, may do so 

by giving written notice to the Council no later than 24 hours prior to the date of the 

hearing, or orally at the hearing. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 6 
 

 

11. Outcome of the hearing 

It is anticipated that a decision will be made at the end of the hearing, following 

deliberation by the Committee.  In the event that a decision is not reached at the end 

of the hearing, each party will be sent notification of the outcome within 5 days 

thereafter. 

 

 

12. Procedure at the hearing 

Consideration of the Report may not commence until the subject of the report 

is present (unless they have indicated they will not be attending). Members of 

the Committee must refrain from discussing the report beforehand. 

 

Members must remain in the Hearing throughout.  Leaving during the course 

of the meeting will result in that Member not being entitled to vote. 

 

 

i. The Democratic Services Officer will bring the subject of the report (the 

applicant / licence holder) into the meeting, with their representative if 

attending, and introduce them to the Committee. 

ii. The Chairperson will introduce the Committee and the applicant / licence 

holder and then ask the applicant / licence holder (or representative) to 

confirm that he/she has received a copy of the relevant Committee report and 

understands the content of the report. The applicant/licence holder may ask 

for any points in the report to be clarified, or may challenge the report or ask 

to make a statement.  

iii. The Chairperson will explain to the applicant/licence holder the procedure for 

the hearing and if appropriate agree a set time for the applicant/licence holder 

and also other parties to speak.  The procedure is as follows: 

 

iv. The Licensing Officer/Manager will introduce the report to the Committee and 

read through the content. 

 

v. Any other parties making representations will address the Committee.  The 

Chairperson and Members may ask questions of these other parties as well 

as the applicant/licence holder. 

 

vi. The applicant / licence holder may make a statement (see ii above) and/or 

ask questions of the Committee and/or the officers/other parties.  

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 7 
 

vii. With permission of the Chairperson, the applicant may be permitted the right 

for a witness to speak on their behalf with regard to evidential issues 

concerning the hearing.  The applicant/licence holder must have placed the 

Council on notice of such intention by including details of the witness in their 

Notice of Attendance in Appendix B. 

 

viii. The Chairperson and members of the Committee may ask the applicant / 

licence holder about the report in front of them. The Committee may also refer 

to the officers, should there be any points they wish to have explained. 

 

ix. Questions asked of the applicant / licence holder will be proportionate and 

relevant to the matter under consideration and may not be unnecessarily 

intrusive (Human Rights Act 2000 will apply). The Council’s Legal Advisor(s) 

may intervene if the questioning exceeds reasonable limits. If appropriate 

and/or necessary, the officers may also ask questions of the applicant/licence 

holder. 

 

x. The applicant / licence holder will respond to the questions asked in his / her 

own words and to the best of his/her ability (unless he/she has asked a 

representative to speak on his/her behalf). 

 

xi. When the Committee has finished discussing the matter with the applicant / 

licence holder and the officers (the hearing), the Chairperson will ask the 

applicant/licence holder if there is anything else he/she wants to say. 

 

xii. All participants apart from the committee members, Legal Advisor(s), 

Monitoring/Deputy Monitoring Officer (if present)  and Committee 

Administrator will be asked to retire from the room while the Committee 

considers what it has heard and comes to its decision.  

 

Note: The Committee may call Officers back if any further advice is required 

during its deliberations. Any such advice given to the Committee at this stage 

will be explained and repeated in the presence of all of the parties. The 

applicant / licence holder (or representative) has an opportunity to comment 

on this before the Committee makes its final deliberation. If comment is made, 

a further recess may be needed by the Committee. 

 

The Council’s Legal Advisor(s) will inform the Committee whether the advice 

already given has varied in response to the comment by anyone. 

 

xiii. When the Committee has reached its decision and the Committee 

Administrator has recorded the findings of facts, decision and any reasons / 

extra conditions required, if appropriate, the other participants will be called 

back into the meeting to be informed of the Committee’s decision. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 8 
 

 

xiv. Following the meeting, the applicant / licence holder will receive a formal 

written confirmation of the Committee decision, if necessary, within a very 

short period (usually within five working days), together with information on 

how to appeal against the decision. 

 

 

 

13. Access by the Public and Press 

The hearing will be conducted in public except where the Council decides it is 

satisfied that it is necessary in all the circumstances of the case that all or part of 

the hearing should be in private, having regard to :- 

 

a) Any unfairness to a party that is likely to result from a hearing in public; 

and 

b) The need to protect as far as possible, the commercial or other legitimate 

interests of a party. 

Public and press will be excluded from the part of the hearing when they 

Committee discuss what decision to make in the case. 

 

 

14. Disruptive Behaviour  
 

The Committee may require any person attending the hearing who in its opinion 

is behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and may: - 

 

a) Refuse to permit that person to return; 

b) Permit them to return only on such conditions as the Committee may 

specify. 

Any such person may, before the end of the hearing, submit to the Committee in 

writing any information which they would have been entitled to give orally had 

they not been required to leave and that information shall be taken into account 

in the Committee’s determination. 

 
 

  

Page 32

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 10 
 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version 4.0.01052019 Page 11 
 

 
 
 

Guide to  
Licensing Sub-Committee  

Hearings Procedure 
 

 
 
 
 

Version Control 

Document Name: Guide to Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings Procedure  

Current Version: Version 3.0.01052019  

(updated with Licensing Act 2003 (Hearing) Regulations 2005 
information and job title change to Public Protection Manager) 

Previous Version: Version 2.4.23012015 

Responsible Officer: Public Protection Manager 

Review Date 2021 

APPENDIX 2 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 2 
 

 
 

Contents 
 

1. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................... 3 

2. THE ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE .................................................................... 3 

3. THE ROLE OF LEGAL ADVISORS ................................................................... 4 

4. THE ROLE OF LICENSING OFFICER / MANAGER ......................................... 5 

5. THE ROLE OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER ...................................... 5 

6. OTHER COUNCIL OFFICERS .......................................................................... 5 

7. TIMESCALES FOR HOLDING A HEARING ...................................................... 5 

8. NOTICE TO BE GIVEN OF A HEARING ........................................................... 5 

9. FORM OF NOTICE ............................................................................................ 6 

10. ATTENDANCE / NON-ATTENDANCE .............................................................. 6 

11. NON-ATTENDANCE ......................................................................................... 7 

12. RIGHT TO DISPOSE WITH THE HEARING IF ALL PARTIES AGREE ............ 8 

13. WITHDRAWAL OF REPRESENTATION .......................................................... 8 

14. EXTENSION OF TIME LIMITS .......................................................................... 8 

15. OUTCOME OF THE HEARING ......................................................................... 8 

16. PROCEDURE AT THE HEARING ..................................................................... 9 

17. ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC AND PRESS ........................................................ 11 

18. DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOUR ............................................................................. 11 

Appendix A – Notice of Hearing 
Appendix B – Notice of Attendance 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 3 
 

1. Introduction 

 

The purpose of this guidance is to explain the procedures for conducting licensing 

hearings in the consideration of  licensing applications, received by the Council, the 

work and responsibilities of the Licensing Committee and Sub-Committee and a 

description of the roles of the committee and officers is also provided. 

Appearing before a committee of councillors can be a daunting prospect for some 

people.  The intention of this guidance is to provide a clear and concise explanation 

of what can be expected. 

The guidance is generally aimed at:- 
 

 Licence holders and applicants or their representatives 

 Legal Practitioners 

 Consultees (e.g. Police, Fire Authority etc) 

 Other Interested Persons 

 
2. The Role of the Committee 

 

The Licensing Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee has full delegated authority 

to deal with Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 functions under a scheme of 

delegation.  This includes all powers (including enforcement) in respect of any 

approval, consent, licence, permission or registration for which the Committees are 

responsible. 

 

Where there are no relevant representations or objections for the grant or renewal of 

any licence, registration, permission or consent for which the Licensing Committee or 

Sub-Committee is responsible these matters will normally be dealt with by the Public 

Protection Manager. 

 

Full details of the Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-Committee and Public 

Protection Manager’s delegations can be found in the Constitution of the Council 

Part 3(1) and 3(2) respectively. Barrow Borough Council’s Statement of Licensing 

Policy states: The Licensing Committee will consist of twelve Councillors.  Licensing 

Sub-Committees of three Councillors are expected to consider the bulk of 

applications where a hearing is necessary.  Ward Councillors will not sit on Sub-

Committee involving an application within their ward. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 4 
 

3. The Role of Legal Advisors 

 

The legal advisors are not a party to the hearing. Their role is to provide the 

Committee with any advice it requires to properly perform its functions, whether or 

not the Members have requested that advice on:- 

 

 questions of law (including human rights); 

 questions of mixed fact and law; 

 matters of practice and procedure; 

 the range of options available to the Committee; 

 any relevant decision of higher courts; 

 relevant national guidance or policy; 

 other issues relevant to the matter before the Committee; 

 the appropriate decision-making structure to be applied to any given case; 

and / or 

 Constitutional matters. 

 
To provide independent advice or clarification on any procedural, technical or legal 

matter at any time during the hearing.  

 

The Legal Advisors may ask questions of witnesses and the parties in order to clarify 

the evidence and any issues. 

 

When the Committee withdraws to make its determination/decision, the Legal 

Advisors will join the Committee in order to give advice.  The substance of advice 

given will be repeated when the Committee returns to the hearing, so that all parties 

have an opportunity to comment upon it. The Legal Advisors will then confirm or 

amend the advice. 

 
The Legal Advisors will take no part in making findings of fact/the decision making 

process but may assist the Committee by reminding it of relevant evidence given 

during the hearing, taken from his own notes or the Committee Administrator’s notes, 

and formulating reasons and recording those reasons. 

 

The Legal Advisors may assist unrepresented parties to present their case, but will 

not become an advocate for the party concerned. 

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 5 
 

4. The Role of Licensing Officer / Manager 

 

To outline the application / issue to be considered, any relevant representations and 

refer to the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy / Guidelines and statutory 

guidance. 

In a case where the Council has made relevant representations, that representation 

will be prepared and presented by an officer other than the reporting Licensing 

Officer / Manager. 

 
5. The Role of Democratic Services Officer 

 

To take a record of the hearing (record will be kept for 6 years from the date of 

determination or where an appeal is lodged, the disposal of the appeal);  

To summarise and record decision on individual matters; and  

To provide help and assistance to members of the public attending such meetings. 

 

6. Other Council Officers  

 

Other Council Officers may be in attendance at the hearing. Where their attendance 

is for a specific role, the officer(s) will be introduced to the Committee along with 

details of their role. 

 

7. Timescales for holding a hearing 

 

The Council will arrange for hearings to be held as soon as reasonably practicable 

after the period for making representations has expired and in accordance with 

regulation 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005. 

 

8. Notice to be given of a hearing 

 

Notice of hearing will be given in accordance with regulation 6 and 7 of the Licensing 

Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005.  

 

Notice of two working days before the day of the hearing, or the first day where the 

hearing is to be held on more than one day, will be given in the case of a hearing 

relating to:- 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 6 
 

 Cancellation of interim authority notice following police objection; or 

 Counter notice following police objection to temporary event notice. 

 
Notice of no later than five working days before the day of the hearing, or the first 

day where the hearing is to be held on more than one day, will be given in the case 

of a hearing relating to:- 

 A review of a premises licence following a closure order; 

 Determination of an application for conversion of an existing licence; 

 Determination of an application for conversion of a club certificate; or 

 Determination of an application by a holder of justices’ licence for the grant of 

a personal licence. 

 
In any other case Notice of no later than ten working days before the day of the 

hearing, or the first day where the hearing is to be held on more than one day. 

 The Council will send Notice of Hearing (Appendix A) along with the following 

information:-  

 Information regarding the rights of a party in relation rights of attendance, 

assistance and representation; 

 Representations and supporting information; 

 Details of the consequences if a party does not attend or is not represented at 

the hearing; 

 The procedure to be followed at the hearing;  

 Any particular points on which the authority considers that it will want 

clarification at the hearing from a party; and 

 Documents listed in column 3 of the table in Schedule 3 of the Licensing Act 

2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005. 

  
The same information will be provided to those person listed in column 2 of the table 

in Schedule 3 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005. 

Hearing papers will be distributed no less than 5 clear working days before the date 

of the hearing. 

 

9. Form of Notice 

 

All notices must be given in writing. 
 
 
10. Attendance / Non-Attendance 

 

All parties may attend the hearing.   

Page 40

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 7 
 

Applicants may be accompanied by their legal representative or any other person 

who may be in attendance to speak on the applicants behalf.   

A Notice of Attendance (Appendix B) detailing whether he intends to attend or be 

represented at the hearing or whether he considers a hearing to be unnecessary 

should be completed and returned to the Environmental Health Manager within the 

following timescales: - 

Notice of no later than one working day before the day of the hearing, or the first 

day where the hearing is to be held on more than one day, shall be given in the case 

of a hearing relating to:- 

 Cancellation of interim authority notice following police objection; or 

 Counter notice following police objection to temporary event notice. 

 
Notice of no later than two working days before the day of the hearing, or the first 

day where the hearing is to be held on more than one day, shall be given in the case 

of a hearing relating to:- 

 A review of a premises licence following a closure order; 

 Determination of an application for conversion of an existing licence; 

 Determination of an application for conversion of a club certificate; or 

 Determination of an application by a holder of justices’ licence for the grant of 

a personal licence. 

 
In any other case Notice of no later than five working days before the day of the 

hearing, or the first day where the hearing is to be held on more than one day. 

In a case where a party wishes any other person (other than the person he intends 

to represent him at the hearing) to appear at the hearing, the notice shall contain a 

request for permission for such other person to appear at the hearing accompanied 

by details of the name of that person and a brief description of the point or points on 

which that person may be able to assist the authority in relation to the application, 

representations or notice of the party making the request. 

  

11. Non-Attendance 

 

Where an applicant does not attend the hearing and is not represented, the authority 

may continue with the hearing in their absence and consider any written material 

submitted by the party, or adjourn the hearing if it is in the public interest to do so. 

The Parties will be notified of the date, time and place to which the hearing has been 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 8 
 

adjourned. 

 
12. Right to dispose with the hearing if all parties agree 

 

Following notice being given by any persons defined in the Act, the Council may 

dispense with holding a hearing, if all persons required by the Act agree that such a 

hearing is unnecessary. 

If the Council determines that a hearing is unnecessary, the Council will give notice 

to all parties. 

 

13. Withdrawal of representation 

 

Any party who wishes to withdraw any representations they have made, may do so 

by giving written notice to the Council no later than 24 hours prior to the date of the 

hearing, or orally at the hearing. 

 
14. Extension of time limits 

 

The Council may extend a time limit provided for in the Licensing Act 2003 

(Hearings) Regulations 2005 where it considers this to be necessary in the public 

interest and subject to regulation 13.  

 

15. Outcome of the hearing 

 
In the case of a hearing in relation to an:- 

 Application to vary premises licence made at the same time as an application 

for conversion of an existing licence under paragraph 2 of Schedule 8; 

 Application to vary licence to specify individual as premises supervisor made 

at the same time as an application for conversion of an existing club certificate 

under paragraph 14 of Schedule 8; 

 A counter notice following police objection to temporary event notice; 

 A review of premises licence following closure order; 

 Determination of application for conversion of existing licence; 

 Determination of application for conversion of existing club certificate, or 

 Determination of application by holder of a justices' licence for grant of 

personal licence), 

 
the authority must make its determination at the conclusion of the hearing.  
In any other case the authority will make its determination within the period of five 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/34
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/section/37


   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 9 
 

working days beginning with the day or the last day on which the hearing was held. 

Once a decision has been made, the Chairman will invite the Legal Advisor(s) to 

announce in public any legal advice he / she has given in private.  

The Chairman will read out the decision of the application and the reasons for the 

decision (unless the Committee is unable to reach a determination at the conclusion 

of the hearing).  

The Chairman will explain that all parties will be notified of the outcome of the 

decision and reasons for the decision in writing.  

If the Committee is unable to reach a decision, the Chairman will explain that all 

parties will be notified as soon as possible but no later than five working days 

beginning with the day or the last day on which the hearing was held of the decision 

and the reasons for such. 

 
16. Procedure at the hearing 

 

Consideration of the Report may not commence until the subject of the report is 

present (unless they have indicated they will not be attending). Members of the 

Committee must refrain from discussing the report beforehand. 

Members must remain in the hearing throughout.  Leaving during the course of the 

meeting will result in that Member not being entitled to vote. 

 
i. The Democratic Services Officer will bring the subject of the report (the 

applicant / licence holder) into the meeting, with their representative if 

attending, and introduce them to the Committee. 

ii. The Chairperson will introduce the Committee and the applicant / licence 

holder and then ask the applicant / licence holder (or representative) to 

confirm that he/she has received a copy of the relevant Committee report and 

understands the content of the report. The applicant / licence holder may ask 

for any points in the report to be clarified, or may challenge the report or ask 

to make a statement.  

iii. The Chairperson will explain to the applicant / licence holder the procedure for 
the hearing.  The Chairperson will also consider any request made by a party 
for permission for another person to appear at the hearing.  Such permission 
will not unreasonably be withheld. 
 

The procedure is as follows: 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 10 
 

iv. The Licensing Officer/Manager will introduce the report to the Committee and 
read through the content. 

 

v. Any other parties making representations will address the Committee.  The 
Chairperson and Members may ask questions of these other parties as well 
as the applicant / licence holder. 

 

vi. All parties will be allowed an equal maximum period of time in which to 
exercise their rights 

 
vii. The applicant / licence holder may make a statement (see ii above) and/or 

ask questions of the Committee and/or the officers/other parties.  
 
viii. With permission of the Chairperson, the applicant may be permitted the right 

for a witness to speak on their behalf with regard to evidential issues 
concerning the hearing.  The applicant / licence holder must have placed the 
Council on notice of such intention by including details of the witness in their 
Notice of Attendance in Appendix B. 

 

ix. The Chairperson and members of the Committee may ask the applicant / 
licence holder about the report in front of them. The Committee may also refer 
to the officers, should there be any points they wish to have explained. 

 

x. Questions asked of the applicant / licence holder will be proportionate and 
relevant to the matter under consideration and may not be unnecessarily 
intrusive (Human Rights Act 2000 will apply). The Council’s Legal Advisors 
may intervene if the questioning exceeds reasonable limits. If appropriate 
and/or necessary, the officers may also ask questions of the applicant / 
licence holder. 

 
xi. The applicant / licence holder will respond to the questions asked in his/her 

own words and to the best of his/her ability (unless he/she has asked a 
representative to speak on his/her behalf). 

 
xii. When the Committee has finished discussing the matter with the applicant / 

licence holder and the officers (the hearing), the Chairperson will ask the 
applicant / licence holder if there is anything else he/she wants to say. 

 
xiii. All participants apart from the committee members, Legal Advisors, 

Monitoring/Deputy Monitoring Officer (if present)  and Committee 
Administrator will be asked to retire from the room while the Committee 
considers what it has heard and comes to its decision.  

 
Note: The Committee may call officers back if any further advice is required 
during its deliberations. Any such advice given to the Committee at this stage 
will be explained and repeated in the presence of all of the parties. The 
applicant / licence holder (or representative) has an opportunity to comment 
on this before the Committee makes its final deliberation. If comment is made, 
a further recess may be needed by the Committee. 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 11 
 

The Council’s Legal Advisors will inform the Committee whether the advice 
already given has varied in response to the comment by anyone. 

 
xiii. When the Committee has reached its decision and the Committee 

Administrator has recorded the findings of facts, decision and any 
reasons/extra conditions required, if appropriate, the other participants will be 
called back into the meeting to be informed of the Committee’s decision. 
 

xiv. Following the meeting, the applicant / licence holder will receive a formal 
written confirmation of the Committee decision, if necessary, within a very 
short period (usually within five working days), together with information on 
how to appeal against the decision. 

 
 

17. Access by the Public and Press 

 

The hearing will be conducted in public except where the Council decides it is 

satisfied that it is necessary in all the circumstances of the case that all or part of the 

hearing should be in private, having regard to :- 

 Any unfairness to a party that is likely to result from a hearing in public; and 

 The need to protect as far as possible, the commercial or other legitimate 

interests of a party. 

 
Public and press will be excluded from the part of the hearing when they Committee 

discuss what decision to make in the case. 

 
 

18. Disruptive Behaviour 

 

The Committee may require any person attending the hearing who in its opinion is 

behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and may: - 

 Refuse to permit that person to return; or 

 Permit them to return only on such conditions as the Council may specify. 

 
Any such person may, before the end of the hearing, submit to the Council in writing 

any information which they would have been entitled to give orally had they not been 

required to leave and that information shall be taken into account in the Committee’s 

determination. 

 

 
 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 12 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



   

Version V4.0 04102018 Page 13 
 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of Minutes
	7 Elected Members Code of Conduct - Licensing Matters
	Appendix - Part 5(5) Code of Conduct for Elected Members  Licensing Matters_FINAL


